1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3 EVARISTO JONATHAN GARCIA,

4 Appellant,

5 vs.

6 THE STATE OF NEVADA,

7 Respondent.
8
9

Electronically Filed
Jun 25 2014 01:54 p.m.

Tracie K. Lindeman
Clerk of Supreme Court
Case No. 64221
Supreme Court Case No. 64221

10 **APPEAL**

11
12 **(Direct Appeal from Judgment of Conviction – Jury Verdict)**

13
14
15 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**
16
17
18
19
20

21 ROSS C. GOODMAN, ESQ.
22 NEVADA BAR NO.: 7722
23 GOODMAN LAW GROUP,
24 A PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION
25 520 SOUTH FOURTH STREET, 2ND FL.
26 LAS VEGAS, NEVADA 89101
27 TELEPHONE: 702-383-5088
28 FACSIMILE: 702-385-5088
EMAIL: ROSS@GOODMANLAWGROUP.COM

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

1
2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Original Indictment was filed on or about March 19, 2010.
(1 AA 1-6).

Plea negotiations had been entered on or about March 17, 2011, however, they were defective and a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea was allowed on February 21, 2012. This was the initial reason for an Amended Indictment and the subsequent Second and Third Amended Indictments. (1 AA 43-44; 2 AA 294-96; 5 AA 973-975). In the Third Amended Indictment which was in place as the jury trial commenced, Evaristo Garcia (hereinafter “Garcia”) was charged with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder with Use of A Deadly Weapon With the Intent to Promote, Further or Assist a Criminal Gang. (5 AA 973-975).

Garcia, before trial, filed two significant Motions at issue herein. The first was a Motion to Suppress In-Court Identification on September 25, 2012. (1 AA 51-67). The State filed an Opposition on October 4, 2012. (1 AA 155-179). A Reply brief was filed on October 8, 2013. (1 AA 180-82). The second was a Motion for an Evidentiary Hearing to Determine the Competency of the State’s Key Witness (Jonathan Harper) on September 27, 2012. (1 AA 68-154). The State filed an Opposition on October 23, 2012. (2 AA 183-243). At hearing on the Motions on October 30, 2012, the trial

1 court denied the Motion to Suppress, and ultimately found the witness
2 competent to testify without ordering a mental or psychological evaluation.
3 (2 AA 244-291).
4

5 A seven (7) day trial commenced on July 8, 2013. (2 AA 297).
6 During trial, Garcia challenged the gang enhancement as being utterly
7 insufficient as a matter of fact and law, and as a result of numerous trial
8 court rulings, the gang enhancement was dropped by the State and a Fourth
9 (and final) Indictment was filed reflecting that change. (10 AA 1850-1851).
10 During the trial, the jury noted some concern with being in the public
11 hallways which was the subject of a lengthy court canvass. (8 AA 1526-
12 1584).
13

14 At its conclusion on July 16, 2013, the Jury acquitted Garcia of Count
15 I- Conspiracy to Commit Murder, and returned a guilty verdict only on
16 Count II – but as the lesser-included charge of Second Degree Murder with
17 Use of a Deadly Weapon. (11 AA 2017-2018). Garcia had filed a
18 compelling Sentencing Memorandum requesting sentencing under the new
19 guidelines or a term of years in the alternative. (14 AA 2059-2064).
20 However, on August 29, 2013, Garcia was sentenced to life with the
21 possibility of parole after ten years for Second Degree Murder and an equal
22 and consecutive life with the possibility of parole after ten years for the
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 weapon enhancement with 1,959 days credit for time served. (14 AA 2224-
2 2246). Garcia filed his timely Notice of Appeal on October 11, 2013. (14
3 AA 2249-2250). The instant appeal follows.

4 5 **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

6 Evaristo Garcia, 16, was accused of shooting and killing Victor
7 Gamboa (herinafter "Gamboa"), 15, as the ostensible outgrowth of a
8 schoolyard melee. There was no evidence, however, that the boys EVER
9 knew each other or EVER engaged in any conflict or actual fight even up to
10 the seconds before the shooting. Indeed, of the dozen or so available,
11 independent witnesses who indicated they were in or an observer to the
12 melee, none (with the exception of purported gang members and unindicted
13 accomplices, Jonathan Harper and Edshel Cavillo) were able to identify
14 Evaristo Garcia out of a line-up as even being at the school, let alone being
15 the shooter. (9 AA 1654-1660).

16 The State's theory was essentially that as a result of the brewing
17 schoolyard conflict between an individual named Crystal Perez and an
18 individual named Giovanni Garcia (who did not testify), a tense, but non-
19 physical confrontation between another individual named Jesus Alonzo
20 (who did not testify) and Giovanni Garcia occurred. (5 AA 822-835). Jesus
21 Alonzo dated Melissa Gamboa. (5 AA 824). According to the State's
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 theory, as a result of this tension between Jesus Alonzo and Giovanni
2 Garcia, a second (also non-physical) confrontation occurred between Crystal
3 Perez and Giovanni Garcia on a different day. (5 AA 836-837).

4
5 There was testimony as to two different telephone calls that were
6 made after this second non-physical confrontation between Giovanni Garcia
7 and Crystal Perez. Jena Marquez testified that she saw Giovanni Garcia
8 make a phone call which upset her. (The Giovanni call is described in more
9 detail, *infra*).

10
11 This caused Jena and her friend Melissa Gamboa to leave school and
12 call her brother Bryan Marquez. (5 AA 839-840). As a result of Jena's call,
13 Bryan Marquez and Victor Gamboa (the brother of Melissa Gamboa) arrived
14 at the school. (5 AA 841). Once arrived, this of group of young people went
15 back to the school to meet up with Jesus Alonzo. (5 AA 841). The melee
16 where many, many young people started fighting was described to have
17 begun when Giovanni Garcia struck Bryan Marquez. (5 AA 844).

18
19 This melee was observed by various school personnel. (6 AA 1072,
20 1098).

21
22 There was no evidence that Evaristo Garcia had any direct contact
23 whatsoever on the day in question with Crystal Perez, Jesus Alonzo, Bryan
24 Marquez, Jena Marquez or Melissa Gamboa.

1
2 The State argued that a call was placed by Giovanni Garcia to
3 encourage people to come down to the schoolyard for an impending conflict.
4 (5 AA 837). In order to establish who was on the other end of this phone
5 call, the State (still operating under a theory that this was underlying gang
6 activity) called supposed gang members Edshel Calvillo and Jonathan
7 Harper. Calvillo did not receive that call but allegedly heard the gist of the
8 conversation second-hand. (5 AA 870-871). Calvillo initially testified that
9 when the call from Giovanni Garcia came into Sal Garcia's apartment the
10 following people were present: himself, Sal Garcia, Jonathan Harper, an
11 individual named Padre, an individual named Periso and numerous
12 girlfriends. (5 AA 871-874). Evaristo Garcia was NOT among those
13 originally listed by Calvillo to be present when that call came. (5 AA 871,
14 lines 18-20). Nonetheless, Calvillo then testified that as a result of the phone
15 call from Giovanni Garcia (which he did not hear), Evaristo Garcia got into
16 a car with Jonathan Harper and a man named Puppet in Puppet's El Camino.
17 (5 AA 876). Calvillo claims he was in a different car with Sal Garcia and
18 others which never made it to the school (5 AA 876-77). Calvillo could not
19 remember the model of car he was in. (5 AA 877). Calvillo also admitting
20 lying to the police. (6 AAA 998). Jonathan Harper testified to similar facts.
21 (7 AA 1277-1283).
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1
2 There was testimony that the murder weapon belonged to an
3 individual named Puppet and that many people had handled that weapon. (5
4 AA 878, 6 AA 1024, 7 AA 1282). There was also evidence adduced that
5 Puppet (aka Manuel Lopez) was identified as previously working at the site
6 where the murder weapon was found. (9 AA 1652-1654). Puppet also
7 admitted to owning the murder weapon. (9 AA 1652). There was also
8 evidence adduced that Giovanny Garcia had a gun at the melee. (9 AA 1648-
9 1649).

12 In truth, however, no reliable evidence was offered that even placed
13 Garcia in Sal Garcia's apartment when the call came in. Furthermore, no
14 physical evidence placed Garcia at the scene of the shooting, or the melee
15 prior to the shooting, or any car that allegedly transported people to the
16 school, or the gray hoodie (6 AA 1059, 1089, 1100) the shooter was agreed
17 upon by almost every witness to have worn. (9 AA 1654-1660). At best, and
18 in the light most favorable to the State, they were able to show that Garcia at
19 one point held the murder weapon although many people had touched the
20 murder weapon; and also that Garcia went to Mexico (9 AA 1600-1602) at a
21 time after the melee.

26 The rest of the case depended primarily on contested and contradicted
27 testimony of Jonathan Harper, and to a lesser extent grossly unreliable
28

1 testimony of Edshel Calvillo and evidence of a prior in-court identification
2 given over objection by Melissa Gamboa.

3
4 Indeed, one of the State's key witnesses, an independent school
5 official, Betty Graves, testified that she stared directly into the face of the
6 boy she attributed as the shooter, and yet she did not identify Evaristo Garcia
7 as being that boy. (6 AA 1095-1098). Moreover, there were MANY State
8 witnesses, as well, who saw the shooter but could only identify a hoodie the
9 shooter was wearing; NO ONE ELSE identified Evaristo Garcia at the time
10 of the offense.
11
12

13
14 Melissa Gamboa (the sister of the decedent) was expected to identify
15 the Defendant in court as she had done at the preliminary hearing which
16 occurred years after the event. Prior to trial, however, Garcia moved to
17 exclude and suppress Ms. Gamboa's prior in-court identification as being
18 overly suggestive. (1 AA 51-67). It is undisputed that Ms. Gamboa did not
19 pick Garcia out of a photo line-up prior to the preliminary hearing (there was
20 contradicting evidence as to whether or not she was shown a line-up). (7
21 AA 1212). The trial court denied the Motion to Suppress. (1 AA 7-42). At
22 trial, Ms. Gamboa was unable to identify Garcia as the person who shot her
23 brother, thus bolstering the concern about the prior identification coming
24 into evidence and ensuing prejudicing. (6 AA 1161-1189; 7 AA 1190-
25
26
27
28

1 1214). The State, over objection, was allowed asked Ms. Gamboa if she was
2 able to identify the shooter at the preliminary hearing and she indicated
3 “yes.” (6 AA 203). Melissa Gamboa admitted that her preliminary hearing
4 identification of Garcia did not match her description of the shooter from her
5 original statement to the police. (7 AA 1195).

6
7
8 Additionally, the State called Edshel Calvillo while ensconced in
9 chains under a so-called “material witness” warrant. (5 AA 899). This was
10 the same Edshel Calvillo had once before testified in an ancillary proceeding
11 (the shooting of witness Jonathan Harper) in a manner (and maintained at
12 trial) that was inconsistent with the State’s position that it was an attempt
13 murder versus a self-inflicted injury. (6 AA 1034; 5 AA 931-32). As such,
14 the State placed on the stand an individual who they already had
15 encountered as a perjurer. It was clear from the cross-examination of
16 Calvillo, that his statement to the police about the incident at issue was so
17 utterly unbelievable from its internal inconsistencies and external
18 contradictions that it was a farce to present him as a credible State’s witness.
19 (5 AA 978-988; 6 AA 989-1047).

20
21
22 There was no discussion on the record as to the specifics as to why a
23 “material witness warrant” was required.
24
25
26
27
28

1
2 Finally, Jonathan Harper testified. The Court ruled that he was an
3 uncharged accomplice and therefore his testimony was required to be
4 corroborated. (10 AA 1803-1806). Jonathan Harper, who had lost 23
5 percent of his brain tissue due to a bullet being placed in his head at Sal
6 Garcia's apartment, was able to have seemingly flawless recall of events,
7 unlike prior proceedings where he admitted having serious memory
8 problems (7 AA 1313-21). A reading of the record reveals Jonathan Harper
9 testified without hesitation or need for much refreshing of recollection. Dr.
10 Norton Roitman testified that based on his observation of the medical
11 records and testimony, Jonathan Harper's testimony could be a product of
12 confabulation. (9 AA 1760-1766). The State was able to point out that Dr.
13 Roitman did not personally interview Jonathan Harper (inasmuch as it was
14 disallowed by the trial court). (9 AA 1768).

15
16 Jonathan Harper's testimony was largely uncorroborated as it related
17 to witnessing the shooting itself, to wit: (1) he testified that he in close
18 enough proximity to the shooting to actually hear Giovanny Garcia
19 encourage the Defendant to shoot Victor Gamboa. (7 AA 1287). (2) No
20 other witness who was close enough to observe (i.e. Melissa Gamboa and
21 Joseph Harris) heard such an exchange. Moreover, every State witness
22 indicated there was either one or two boys pursuing Gamboa, no one
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 mentioned a third in close proximity whereas Jonathan Harper stated he was
2 there with Giovanni Garcia and Evaristo Garcia (7 AA 1287). (3) Jonathan
3 Harper also testified that the shooter unloaded his entire clip of bullets into
4 the body of Gamboa (7 AA 1287), which was contradicted by the Coroner.
5 (7 AA 1374).
6

7
8 Finally, and despite all the references to a criminal gang, and that
9 enhancement in the Indictment, the trial court having heard ALL the State's
10 evidence ruled there was an insufficient basis to have the State's expert
11 testify that he could conclude that Evaristo Garcia was in a criminal gang or
12 that the group described by all the witness was a criminal gang. (7 AA
13 1359).
14
15

16 SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

17 This case is about the State proceeding on a very weak case seeking
18 first degree murder. The only actual evidence that linked the Defendant to
19 the offense was that two of his fingerprints (out of three of value and
20 countless more that were not of testing quality) appeared on the gun, and
21 two years later he was located in Mexico. Regarding the former, the
22 Defense more than adequately elicited testimony that the Defendant's
23 fingerprints on the gun meant nothing more than at some time and place the
24 Defendant had held the gun – a point not disputed by the Defense – but that
25
26
27
28

1 does not rise to the level of reasonable doubt necessary to establish he was
2 the shooter. Regarding the latter, the State did not establish when the
3 Defendant went to Mexico or under what circumstances. The State was
4 unable to show that the Defendant went to Mexico after the arrest warrant
5 was issued (June, 2006), or if he had, that he hadn't gone to Mexico
6 years after the shooting. In sum, there was NO evidence as to when the
7 Defendant first left Las Vegas. Even together with other evidence adduced,
8 there was insufficient evidence to meet the high burden of reasonable doubt.
9

10
11 The jury was presented with a two-count Indictment alleging
12 conspiracy to commit murder and murder (which included as an alternate
13 theory – conspiracy). The Defendant was acquitted of conspiracy and found
14 guilty of only second-degree murder with use of a deadly weapon (which fit
15 NO theory of the case). The jury was clearly swayed by inappropriate-by-
16 law gang evidence that was received early in the proceedings.
17

18 19 20 21 **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

22 **I. THERE WAS AN INSUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENCE TO** 23 **SUSTAIN A VERDICT OF GUILT FOR SECOND DEGREE** 24 **MURDER.**

25 Appellant submits that the evidence adduced at trial was insufficient
26 to support his convictions of Murder in the Second Degree with the Use of a
27 Deadly Weapon.

28 The recognized standard of proof, in support of conviction, is whether

1 the evidence is of such certainty that a rational trier of fact will be convinced
2 of the guilt of the accused beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*,
3 443 U.S. 307, 318 (1979) (see *Virginia v. Black*, 538 U.S. 343 (2003); *Mejia*
4 *v. State*, 122 Nev. 487, 134, P.3d 722 (2006); *Thompson v. State*, 221 P.3d
5 708 Nev. (2009)). Furthermore, this Court has held that a conviction cannot
6 be upheld where it is based on evidence from which only uncertain
7 references can be drawn. *Woodall v. State*, 97 Nev. 235, 236, 627 P.2d 402
8 (1981). Further, in evaluating the evidence of an accomplice, corroboration
9 is paramount. NRS 175.291; *Ramirez-Garza v. State*, 108 Nev. 376, 379,
10 832 P.2d 392, 393 (1992).

11 Even in the light most favorable to the State, without the benefit of the
12 testimony of accomplices Edshel Cavillo and Jonathan Harper, the
13 conviction is devoid of the necessary quantum of proof.

14 The State was able to offer evidence that Evaristo Garcia's
15 fingerprints were found on the weapon used in this case, but has to concede
16 that many people touched that weapon. (6 AA 1024). Apart from that fact,
17 there was not a single clean, untainted identification of Evaristo Garcia as
18 the shooter. There was no evidence adduced that Evaristo Garcia knew the
19 victim Victor Gamboa or why Victor Gamboa would have been singled out
20 in the melee by a person who (according to the State's theory) had just
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

1 arrived at the scene. While Evaristo Garcia did go to Mexico at some
2 undetermined time, it must be noted that Jonathan Harper stuck around in
3 Las Vegas and was shot in the head at Sal Garcia's house. Evaristo Garcia
4 did not give a statement or admission to the police. There is no other
5 evidence that links Evaristo Garcia to the offense.
6

7
8 As a result, the State needed to rely heavily on a prior in-court
9 identification by Melissa Gamboa, and the testimony of two admitted "Puros
10 Locos" members – Jonathan Harper and Edshel Cavillo, neither of whom
11 were corroborated by independent evidence. (see more detailed accounts of
12 the errors raised by the testimony of these three individuals, *infra*).
13

14
15 Moreover, even with the enhanced but improper testimony of Melissa
16 Gamboa and the two accomplices (Jonathan Harper rode in the vehicle and
17 engaged in the fight; Edshel Cavillo in response to the telephone call to
18 come to the scene, got in a car and headed to the school to fight), it is clear
19 that there is insufficient evidence upon a reading of the actual record.
20

21
22 Melissa Gamboa admitted that her identification of Evaristo Garcia at
23 the preliminary hearing as the shooter contradicted her depiction of the
24 shooter at the time of offense. (7 AA 1195).
25

26 Edshel Cavillo told police he did not travel to the scene (6 AA 1005),
27 but contradicted his own statement at trial by testifying that he did attempt to
28

1 go to the school, but never made it that far (5 AA 879-881). Edshel Cavillo
2 also claimed that Evaristo Garcia confessed to him, but that was not
3 independently verified and the circumstances surrounding that so-called
4 confession are impossible to have occurred in a manner described by Edshel
5 Cavillo given his testimony. (6 AA 1009-1024). Edshel Cavillo also
6 admitted he did NOT see the shooting. (5 AA 881). Jonathan Harper's main
7 testimony supposedly incriminating Evaristo Garcia was actually
8 contradicted (not corroborated) by independent and scientific evidence. (7
9 AA 1287; 1374).

10
11 In sum, there was insufficient evidence to support a conviction that
12 showed that Evaristo Garcia shot into the body of Victor Gamboa and killing
13 him in a manner consistent with Second Degree Murder.

14
15
16
17
18 **II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING A PRIOR**
19 **SUGGESTIVE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION WHEN THE**
20 **WITNESS FAILED TO IDENTIFY THE DEFENDANT AT**
21 **TRIAL.**

22 Melissa Gamboa was never given a photo line-up to identify the
23 alleged shooter of her brother Victor, but she did give a statement describing
24 the shooter to the police. At the preliminary hearing in this matter, Melissa
25 Gamboa identified Evaristo Garcia, who was the only person in custody at
26 the defense table. She also admitted that the person she described close in
27 time to the incident did not match the appearance of the person she identified
28

1 at preliminary hearing. At trial, she did not identify anyone as being the
2 shooter.
3

4 Evidentiary rules disallow in-court identification when the
5 circumstances surrounding pre-trial identifications are unduly prejudicial.
6 See *Simmons v. U.S.*, 390 U.S. 377, 88 S.Ct. 967 (1968). Initial
7 misidentification “reduces the trustworthiness” of subsequent lineup or
8 courtroom identification. *Id.*
9
10

11 The standard regarding undue suggestiveness comes originally from
12 *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. 293, 87 S.Ct. 1967, 18 L.Ed.2d 1199 (1967); (see
13 also, *Baker v. State*, 88 Nev. 369, 498 P.2d 1310 (1972)). The test is whether
14 “the confrontation conducted in this case was so unnecessarily suggestive
15 and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification that (the defendant is)
16 denied due process of law.” *Stovall v. Denno*, 388 U.S. at 301-302, 87 S.Ct.
17 at 1972. This determination is to be made after a review of the “totality of
18 the circumstances.” 388 U.S. at 302, 87 S.Ct. 1967.
19
20
21

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