IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

EVARISTO JONATHAN GARCIA,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 07 2014 03:47 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 64221

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

ROSS C. GOODMAN, ESQ. Nevada Bar #007722 Goodman Law Group 520 South Fourth Street, 2nd Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 383-5088 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

63 F.3d at 929.

As early as 1969, this Court held, in <u>Craig v. State</u>, 85 Nev. 130, 451 P.2d 365 (1969), that a defendant's claim that he was prejudiced by being identified at a preliminary hearing without having had a lineup was without merit. This Court noted that the nature of the alleged prejudice was not clear. <u>Id.</u>

The circumstances of Gamboa's identification of Appellant were not so suggestive as to require judicial trespass into the role of the jury. The court found that the preliminary hearing identification was not unduly suggestive because Gamboa first recognized Appellant while he was sitting in the jury box with other in-custody defendants, nobody talked to her about who he was, and there was a reliable basis for the identification based on her statement to police that she saw him, could identify him, and described what he was wearing. II AA 253. Moreover, Appellant had the opportunity to cross-examine Gamboa at the preliminary hearing about inconsistencies in her statements, and her identification of him as "the person seated at counsel table." I AA 64-66. She was also subjected to extensive cross examination at trial. VI AA 1184-VII AA 1205.

III. THE COURT PROPERLY ALLOWED JONATHAN HARPER TO TESTIFY

It was not error to allow Harper to testify and to deny the Motion for Evidentiary Hearing since he was able to communicate his observations, his recollection could be refreshed and he was subject to cross examination.

A trial court's finding of competence will not be reversed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion. <u>Lanoue v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 305, 307, 661 P.2d 874, 874 (1983). NRS 50.015 states that "[e]very person is competent to be a witness except as otherwise provided in this title." Nowhere in the remaining sections are persons who express an inability to recall events perfectly or who provide inconsistent statements over a span of several years precluded from testifying.

This Court, in finding an eight-year-old competent, reiterated that the standard of competence is "that the child must have the capacity to receive just impressions and possess the ability to relate them truthfully." <u>Wilson v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 422, 423-24, 610 P.2d 184, 185 (1980). This Court reiterated that inconsistencies in testimony go to the weight to be given the evidence by the jury rather than to the question of competence. <u>Id</u>.

In Fox v. State, 87 Nev. 657, 569-72, 491 P.2d 35, 36-37 (1971), this Court found that a district court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to order a physical examination of the witness and allowing the witness, who admitted to consuming drugs the night before he testified, to testify. In Fox, the district court found that the witness did not appear to be under the influence of narcotics and he handled himself well on cross-examination even though counsel tried to "cross him up" and "throw rapid-fire questions" at him. Id. This is similar to the case at hand where the court found that Harper went "toe to toe" with defense counsel and that he was definitely able to relate what had happened. XI AA 2046-67.

Authority in Nevada for compelling a witness to undergo a psychiatric evaluation is centered mostly on child victims of sexual abuse. The same analysis applies here. In <u>Abbott v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 15, 138 P.3d 462 (2006), this Court overruled prior precedent and returned to factors set forth in <u>Koerschner v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1111, 13 P.3d 451 (2000), reasserting that a trial judge should order an independent psychological or psychiatric examination of a witness only if there is a compelling reason for such an examination.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Washington v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 305, 307, 608 P.2d 1101, 1102 (1980) is misplaced. In <u>Washington</u>, this Court found that defense must present "compelling reasons" to require a psychiatric examination even when the victim admits to lying to the police and to committing perjury. <u>Id.</u> Harper never

admitted to perjury and the district court found that jurors heard all of his statements, including inconsistent ones, and should make their own decision regarding his credibility. XI AA 2047-48.

The district court, in denying Appellant's request for an evidentiary hearing, found that a witness can suffer a head injury and still be competent. II AA 276. The court found that there was no need for a psychiatric examination and the fact that Harper gave contradictory statements was a cross-examination issue. II AA 277-78. Harper was subjected to extensive cross examination. VII AA 1293-1321. Importantly, over the State's objection, the district court instructed the jury that Harper's testimony needed to be corroborated. X AA 1803, 1884.

IV. APPELLANT WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY THE MATERIAL WITNESS WARRANT

A. The State Properly Obtained a Material Witness Warrant

Calvillo was properly the subject of a material witness warrant because he failed to appear for court despite being subpoenaed.

Appellant did not preserve this issue for appeal. Appellant objected to relevance and was concerned about Calvillo being informed of his Fifth Amendment Rights, but did not object to the material witness warrant. V AA 854-56. Failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue. <u>Rippo v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1239, 1259, 946 P.2d 1017, 1030 (1997). Despite such failure, this court has the discretion to address an error if it was plain and affected the defendant's substantial rights. Normally, the defendant must show that an error was prejudicial in order to establish that it affected substantial rights. <u>Gallego v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 348, 23 P.3d 227, 239 (2001).

Under NRS 178.494:

"1. If it appears by affidavit that the testimony of a person is material in any criminal proceeding and if it is shown that it may become impracticable to secure the person's presence by subpoena, the magistrate may require bail for the person's appearance as a witness, in an amount fixed by the magistrate. If the person fails to give bail the magistrate may:

(a) Commit the person to the custody of a peace officer pending final disposition of the proceeding in which the testimony is needed; . . ."

In Globensky v. State, 96 Nev. 113, 188, 605 P.2d 215, 219 (1980), this

Court entertained a claim that holding a witness until trial on a material witness warrant placed the witness "under such pressure ... that she was forced to testify against her husband." This Court rejected the contention because "our statute authorizes courts to set bail for material witnesses and allow for these witnesses to be taken into custody if bail cannot be posted[.]" <u>Id.</u>

The record does not present error of any degree of Calvillo testified that while he promised to appear for court, he did not, despite being subpoenaed. V AA 852.

///

///

B. It Was not Prosecutorial Misconduct to Present Calvillo in Custody

When this Court considers a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, it engages in a two-step analysis. Valdez v. State, 124 Nev. 1172, 1189, 196 P.3d 465, 476 (2008). First, the Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants reversal. Id. The second prong is dependent on what type of error it was and whether or not it was preserved. Id. at 1189-90, 196 P.3d at 476-77. When an error is not preserved, this Court employs a plain-error review and asks whether the defendant demonstrated that the error "affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." Id. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477, (quoting Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003)). Appellant did not object to the material arrest warrant or that Calvillo was in shackles. V AA 854-56. There was no objection regarding alleged prosecutorial misconduct during Calvillo's testimony. V AA 851-896. Therefore this Court should review the second prong using a plain error analysis.

Appellant did not demonstrate that the shackles were improper, or that any misconduct occurred. The State was concerned that any attempt to obscure Calvillo's custody status could be seen as improper vouching, particularly considering Calvillo's involvement and confession. <u>See, Lisle v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 540, 553, 937 P.2d 473, 481 (1997). Appellant's contention that the State attempted to either make

sure Calvillo testified in a way favorable to the state or presented him in a way to bolster his credibility is belied by the record and nonsensical. Calvillo admitted that he did not want to testify. V AA 852-53. No promises or threats had been made regarding his testimony. V AA 928. He was brought to court in shackles because he was in custody, and pursuant to NRS 178.494 he was in custody until the completion of his testimony, regardless of how he testified.

Appellant's contention that the material witness warrant somehow prevented defense counsel from adequately preparing makes no sense and is belied by the record. Calvillo was noticed as a witness by the State in the Indictment filed on March 19, 2010. I AA 5. When Appellant complained to the district court that he had not had an opportunity to interview Calvillo, counsel was given the opportunity to interview him before cross-examination began. V AA 898-99, 935-37. Further, the prosecution suffered the same handicap due to Calvillo's failure to appear since only one interview had been conducted by the prosecutor that very day. V AA 926-27.

Defendant failed to object on the grounds that Calvillo was an accomplice. Defendant inquired as to what Calvillo would testify to and if he needed an attorney. V AA 854-56. Calvillo had not participated in the fight or the shooting, and the State indicated it had no intention of prosecuting him for any crimes. V AA 854-56. Calvillo was not an accomplice, and could not be prosecuted as such as the court found the statute of limitations had run. V AA 905-07. Defense never requested a jury instruction regarding corroboration of accomplice testimony as they did with Harper. X 1803-07, 1884.

V. IT WAS NOT PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT TO PROCEED TO TRIAL WITH THE GANG ENHANCEMENT

There was no prosecutorial misconduct in proceeding to trial with a gang enhancement.

When this Court considers a claim of prosecutorial misconduct, it engages in a two-step analysis. <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1189, 196 P.3d at 476. First, the Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper, and second, if the conduct was improper, the court determines whether it warrants reversal. <u>Id</u>.

The prosecutor's conduct was not improper. Under the original Case No. (C226218), Appellant filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging the gang enhancement on February 17, 2009. RA 77-82. The court denied this Writ on March 3, 2009 pursuant to a hearing, stating that the bar at a preliminary is slight, and authorizing the State to move forward with the gang enhancement. RA 83. Following the grand jury presentment, Defendant filed a second Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging the gang enhancement, which was denied on May 25, 2010, again authorizing the State to move forward with the gang enhancement. RA 84-100, 102. On June 4, 2010, Manuel Lopez, who was charged in connection to the

same incident, filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging the gang enhancement. RA 103-12. On June 22, 2010, pursuant to a hearing, the Court denied the writ as untimely, but also ruled that the State had presented adequate evidence to move forward with the gang enhancement as the State had shown: 1) that Appellant knew he was going to get into a fight with a rival gang; 2) Puros Locos could enhance its reputation by fighting Brown Pride; 3) Appellant's fellow gang member, Garcia, requested Appellant's assistance to fight; and 4) Appellant has a large tattoo on his chest of Puros Locos. RA 114. Furthermore, the Court found that the trier of fact determines if the gang enhancement should be applied. RA 114. ⁴

The gang enhancement was a viable charge until Appellant successfully argued that the State should be precluded from calling a gang expert to testify. VII AA 1361. Without the gang expert, the State could not proceed with the gang enhancement <u>Origel-Candido v. State</u>, 114 Nev. 378, 956 P.2d 1378 (1998) (finding that evidence the defendant was in a gang but no evidence regarding felonious activity as a common act does not constitute sufficient evidence for a gang enhancement). However, the district court found that the State had proceeded in good faith and that the loss of the enhancement was due to changes in the testimony

⁴ The transcripts of the hearings regarding all three of Appellant's Petitions for Writs of Habeas Corpus are not part of the record, and thus it is presumed that the transcripts support the findings of the district court. <u>Sasser v. State</u>, 130 Nev. __, __, 324 P.3d 1221, 1225, footnote 8 (2014).

of witnesses and new information not available to the State when the case was charged. VII AA 1353-57.

NRS 193.168(1) states that "a criminal gang enhancement may be added for "any person who is convicted of a felony committed knowingly for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in affiliation with, a criminal gang, with the specific intent to promote, further or assist the criminal gang." Based on discovery, the State had reason to believe that Appellant shot Victor as a result of a gang dispute between Brown Pride and Puros Locos. Statements from Harper led the State to believe that Calvillo, Appellant, Lopez, Garcia, and Salvador Garcia were in Puros Locos. RA 69. At the preliminary hearing Harper testified that they were going to fight Brown Pride. RA 7. In a recorded statement on March 30, 2006, Lopez also stated that Appellant ran with Puros Locos and was a member of a gang. RA 68.

Appellant argues that because no one in the gang had actual felony convictions, that there was not a gang. However, NRS 193.168(8) defines a criminal gang as:

As used in this section, "criminal gang" means any combination of persons, organized formally or informally, so constructed that the organization will continue its operation even if individual members enter or leave the organizations, which:

- (a) Has a common name or identifying symbol;
- (b) Has particular conduct, status and customs indicative of it; and

(c) Has as one of its common activities engaging in criminal activity punishable as a felony, other than the conduct which constitutes the primary offense.

There is no requirement that the felonious conduct must be proven by way of actual convictions, as opposed to other forms of evidence. In <u>Origel-Candido</u>, 114 Nev. at 383, 956 P.23 at 1381, this Court discussed the sufficiency of testimony by a gang expert regarding whether the activities the gang engaged in were felonious activities of the gang as a whole. This Court did not require that the State prove prior felony convictions in order to establish the requisite felonious activity. <u>Id.</u>

The prosecution brought the gang enhancement in reliance on NRS 193.168(7), which permits the admissibility of expert testimony to show "the types of crimes that are likely to be committed by a particular criminal gang" Furthermore, the prosecution had been told by the Court, not once, but twice, through the denial of Appellant's pre-trial Writ of Habeas Corpus that there was sufficient evidence to move forward with the gang enhancement. But when the court ruled that the State could not present the gang expert, the State no longer had the ability to prove the gang enhancement and thus did not proceed. VII AA 1361-62.

VI. ANY ALLEGED ERROR WAS HARMLESS

NRS 178.598 provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance which does not affect substantial rights shall be disregarded." Constitutional error is harmless when "it is 'clear beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error."" Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725,

732 n.14, 30 P.3d 1128, 1132 n. 14 (2001) (quoting Neder v. United States, 527

U.S. 1, 3 (1999)). Non-constitutional trial error is reviewed for harmlessness based

on whether it had substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the

jury's verdict. Knipes v. State, 124 Nev. 927, 935, 192 P.3d 1178, 1183 (2008).

Any potential error was harmless. The State presented ample evidence that Appellant committed the crimes with which he was charged. See <u>Supra</u> I.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the State respectfully request that this Court affirm the Judgment of Conviction.